IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA



APPEAL DOCKET NO. 89-3469

JOEY B. THOMPSON,

Appellant,

vs .

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

Appeal from the Circuit Court Duval County, Florida

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Wm. J. Sheppard Elizabeth L. white Cyra C. O'Daniel Matthew P. Farmer SHEPPARD AND WHITE, P.A. 215 Washington Street Jacksonville, Florida 32202 (904) 356-9661 COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant, Joey Burton Thompson, will be referred to in this brief as "appellant" or "Mr. Thompson." Appellee, the State of Florida will be referred to as "appellee," "the State," or "the prosecution." References to the pleadings contained in this Record on Appeal will be designated as "R," followed by the appropriate page number(s), set forth in brackets (Example: [R,1]). References to the transcripts of pre-trial, trial, sentencing and post-trial proceedings in this case will be referred to as "Tr.," followed by the appropriate page number(s), set forth in brackets (Example: [Tr.1]).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Appellant, Joey Burton Thompson, is twenty-nine years old and the father of two young children, for whom he has always provided support. [R.1; Tr.1083] He has no prior arrests and has maintained gainful employment throughout his life. [R.1; Tr.768, 771, 1083] He has been sentenced to death by electrocution for the killing of his girlfriend, Annette Louise Place. [R.304]

On February 11, 1988, appellant's estranged wife, Janice Thompson requested that members of the Jacksonville Sheriff's office accompany her to her husband's home [Tr.950] so that she could retrieve her personal belongings. [Tr,644] Upon arriving at the home, the officers knocked for a period of time before [Tr,632] He appeared dazed. appellant answered the door. [Tr, 633] Upon the appellant's opening of the door, Ms. Thompson pushed past appellant, forcing entrance into the home. [Tr.633] Thereupon, appellant indicated to the police that \mathbf{a} dead person was in his bedroom. Indeed, upon a search by the officers, the dead body of Ms. Place was found in the room. Appellant confessed to the crime, both orally and in writing, indicating that he intended to kill Ms. Place and then himself. [Tr.638] A suicide note was found in appellant's home.

The State's theory of the case at trial was that on the evening prior to the murder, Mr. Thompson and Ms. Place had an argument because appellant informed Ms. Place that he intended to reunite with his family. He also told her he wanted her to leave

-2-

his home. Appellant had met the victim a few weeks prior to the murder at a topless lounge, where the victim worked as a dancer. He became romantically involved with her, causing the break-up of his marriage. Appellant, regretting this result, told her he no longer wanted to see her and asked her to leave his home. Ms. Place refused to leave appellant's home and told him that she would have him killed if he tried to leave her. [Tr. 6471 She also threatened to blow up his house. [Tr. 6471

According to the State, on the morning of February 9, 1988, Mr. Thompson arose at approximately 8 o'clock a.m. in a state of Thereafter, he decided to kill Ms. Place and then depression. commit suicide. [Tr.647] By all accounts, Mr. Thompson had been extremely distraught, to the extent that his wife believed he was suicidal. [Tr.787] Sometime around 8:30 o'clock a.m., he shot Ms. Place once in the head [Tr.648], and stabbed her once in the [Tr.748] Thereupon, he engaged in several efforts to kill back. himself, none of which were successful. [Tr.651] One such effort involved the consumption of a large number of pills, which caused Mr. Thompson to become unconscious for a period of time. He also attempted unsuccessfully to slash his wrists. These efforts were ended when his estranged wife entered the home with the police.

At trial, appellant testified that the murder had in fact been committed by his estranged wife, after she surreptitiously entered appellant's home and killed Ms. Place in a jealous rage. He further testified that he wrote the suicide note after Ms.

-3-

Place's death, when he decided it would be best for his family if he killed himself and left a note that he had committed the murder. [Tr.821] He also testified that he had unsuccessfully attempted suicide in several fashions during the eighteen hours prior to police entry into his home. [Tr.795]

An autopsy conducted on the victim established she had been shot once and stabbed once, within a brief period of time.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On February 11, 1988, appellant was arrested and charged with the murder of Annette Place. [R.1] Thereafter, he was indicted by a grand jury for first degree murder. [R.122] A pretrial challenge to the composition of the grand jury was rejected by the trial court and a petition for writ of prohibition was denied by this Court on the merits. [Case No. 72,3451. [R.142] No pretrial motions to suppress evidence were filed.

The case proceeded to trial on October 3, 1988. [Tr.311] Prior to the jury selection process, counsel for appellant moved the court to order the State to produce information in its possession relating the criminal backgrounds of the prospective jurors. [Tr.347] This motion was denied by the trial court. [Tr.352]

During voir dire, one of the prospective jurors, Ms. Terri D. Glover, expressed her reservations about the death penalty and indicated that she could never vote to impose it. [Tr.444] Nonetheless, she stated:

> MRS. GLOVER: My beliefs are I feel that I can go in the trial but when that certain day comes to convict him as being guilty or not guilty or having the death penalty or if he is going to prison, I can't make that decision. I mean I can't agree to the death penalty.

> MR. CHIPPERFIELD: You could not make a recommendation of death?

MRS. GLOVER: Of the death penalty, but I could go through the trial.

[Tr.443] Ms. Glover was removed for cause over the objection of appellant's counsel. [Tr.483]

As its first witness the State called the victim's father who, despite an admonition by the trial court not to reveal his relationship with the victim to the jury, testified that the victim was his daughter. [Tr.567] A timely motion for mistrial was denied, the trial court concluding that error had occurred, but determining such error to be harmless. [Tr.572] Photographs of the deceased were also introduced over objection. [Tr.582]

The appellant took the stand in his own defense and testified that his estranged wife had in fact committed the murder of Ms. Place during a jealous rage. [Tr.776] He further testified he decided to take the blame for the homicide in a suicide note and commit suicide. He believed his suicide would prevent his family from becoming further traumatized by what had happened. [Tr.797-98]

Thereafter, the State called Janice Thompson to deny her involvement in the crime. Although extensive pretrial efforts to locate and depose Ms. Thompson had been made by defendant's counsel, [Tr.920-24] these efforts were unsuccessful due to Ms. Thompson's deliberate concealment of herself. [Tr.948] She had been advised by the State that she need not make herself available to defense counsel. [Tr.924] Requests to exclude Ms. Thompson's trial testimony were denied by the trial court. [Tr.936]

Upon Mr. Thompson's conviction, the jury recommended, by a vote of 8 to 4, to recommend that appellant be sentenced to death. [R.295] Throughout the trial, jurors were repeatedly told by both the State and the trial court that their role as

-6-

sentencers was minimal. The prosecutor stated, "[The trial judge] is the one that is imposing the sentence. You should not feel bad for being here or having to vote" [Tr.110-02] and emphasized, "Don't feel like [determination of the death penalty] is on you, like the burden's on you." [Tr.1093] The trial court's instructions did not cure this misleading role. Instead the trial court compounded the characterization by stating, "Thus, the jury does not impose the punishment if a verdict of guilty is rendered. The imposition of the sentence is the function of the Judge of this Court and it is not the punishment of the jury." [Tr.358-59]

During the sentencing phase, the trial court excluded evidence that appellant had successfully undertaken a polygraph examination, which indicated he did not in fact kill Ms. Place, finding such evidence to be irrelevant to the sentencing recommendation. Thereafter, the jury returned its recommendation of death, by a vote of 8 to 4. [Tr.1047]

In sentencing appellant, the trial court found the existence of five mitigating circumstances, namely that: 1) appellant had no prior criminal record [R.301]; 2) appellant was suffering from emotional stress at the time of the offense [R.303]; 3) appellant had maintained employment while married [R.303]; 4) appellant had been a good son while growing up [R.303]; and 5) appellant had been a good inmate while in custody [R.303]. In aggravation, it found that the murder had been committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated fashion. [R.303] Despite the existence of five

-7-

mitigating circumstances and only one aggravating circumstance, which the appellant argued was not applicable to the facts of the crime, the trial court imposed a sentence of death by electrocution upon the appellant. [R.304]

A timely Notice of Appeal was filed. [R.308] This appeal followed.

I.

WHETHER THE FACTS OF THIS CASE WARRANT IMPOSITION OF THE DEATH PENALTY.

II.

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED AT THE PENALTY PHASE WHEN IT DETERMINED THAT THE ONE AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCE FOUND OUTWEIGHED THE FIVE MITIGATING CIRCUMSTANCES FOUND IN THIS CASE.

- A. Whether the Trial Court Erred in Finding that the Requirements for Imposition of the "Cold, Calculated, and Premeditated" Aggravating Circumstance had been Satisfied.
- B. Whether the Trial Court Erred in Finding Several Nonstatutory Aggravating Circumstances.
- C. Whether, Based Upon a Weighing of Aggravating and Mitigating Circumstances as Required by Section 912.141(3), Florida Statutes (1987), Imposition of the Death Penalty is Disproportionate in this Case.

III.

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY MAKING, AND ALLOWING THE PROSECUTION TO MAKE STATEMENTS WHICH MISCHARACTERIZED AND DIMINISHED THE JURY'S SENSE OF RESPONSIBILITY IN ITS SENTENCING RECOMMENDATION, IN VIOLATION OF CALDWELL V. MISSISSIPPI AND THE EIGHTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT.

IV.

WHETHER THE PENALTY PHASE JURY INSTRUCTIONS FAILED TO CHANNEL THE JURY'S DISCRETION IN CONSIDERING WHETHER THE CRIME WAS "COLD, CALCULATED AND PREMEDITATED." WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT EXCLUDED EXCULPATORY POLYGRAPH RESULTS FROM CONSIDERATION DURING THE SENTENCING PHASE OF THIS CASE.

VI.

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR MISTRIAL AFTER THE VICTIM'S FATHER IDENTIFIED THE VICTIM AS HIS DAUGHTER TO THE JURY.

VII.

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN PERMITTING JANICE THOMPSON TO TESTIFY AT TRIAL AFTER SHE HAD DELIBERATELY CONCEALED HERSELF FROM DEFENSE COUNSEL PRIOR TO TRIAL AT THE STATE'S ACQUIESCENCE.

VIII.

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING THE STATE TO INTRODUCE HIGHLY PREJUDICIAL PHOTOGRAPHS OF THE DECEASED VICTIM WHICH INFLAMED THE JURY AND PREVENTED A FAIR CONSIDERATION OF THE EVIDENCE.

IX.

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT DENIED APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR DISCOVERY OF PROSECUTORIAL INVESTIGATIONS OF PROSPECTIVE JURORS OR FUNDS TO CONDUCT SIMILAR INVESTIGATION.

х.

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT REMOVED A QUALIFIED PROSPECTIVE JUROR FOR CAUSE BECAUSE OF HER FEELINGS ABOUT THE DEATH PENALTY. XI.

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT DENIED APPELLANT'S REQUEST TO RECORD THE PROCEEDINGS OF THE GRAND JURY.

XII.

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT DENIED APPELLANT'S MOTION TO PRECLUDE STATE ATTORNEY VOIR DIRE EXAMINATION OF PROSPECTIVE GRAND JURORS.

XIII.

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION TO ENJOIN GRAND JURY DELIBERATIONS ON THE GROUND THAT THE GRAND JURY WAS IMPROPERLY CONSTITUTED.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

I.

THE FACTS OF THIS CASE DO NOT WARRANT IMPOSITION OF THE DEATH PENALTY.

The facts of this case do not justify the imposition of the extreme sanction of death. Prior to this offense, appellant was a law-abiding individual, who had never been arrested in his life and who had been gainfully employed as a construction supervisor. He was a family man with two young children. At most, the facts establish that appellant was mentally distraught and emotionally upset at the time of the offense. The victim was his girlfriend. In an act of desperation, appellant killed her and then attempted to kill himself. Comparing this case with other first degree murder cases, it is clear that the only appropriate sentence is one of life imprisonment.

II.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED AT THE PENALTY PHASE WHEN IT DETERMINED THAT THE ONE AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCE FOUND OUTWEIGHED THE FIVE MITIGATING CIRCUMSTANCES FOUND IN THIS CASE.

The trial court erred in the weighing process required to be undertaken prior to imposing a sentence of death. First, it erroneously concluded that the aggravating circumstance that the crime was "cold, calculated and premeditated" had been established. Second, it erroneously utilized non-statutory factors in aggravation of appellant's sentence. Finally, it erroneously concluded that the one valid statutory aggravating

-12-

circumstance outweighed the five mitigating circumstances found. In view of the facts of this case, the imposition of the death penalty is disproportionate to the crime committed. Appellant's sentence should be reduced to life imprisonment.

III.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY MAKING, AND ALLOWING THE PROSECUTION TO MAKE STATEMENTS WHICH MISCHARACTERIZED AND DIMINISHED THE JURY'S SENSE OF RESPONSIBILITY IN ITS SENTENCING RECOMMENDATION, IN VIOLATION OF <u>CALDWELL V.</u> <u>MISSISSIPPI</u> AND THE EIGHTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT.

The jury in the instant case was repeatedly instructed by the trial court that its sentencing recommendation was not conclusive and was told by the State not to "feel bad" about voting for the death penalty because the judge could override a recommendation of death. The jury's lessened sense of responsibility created a bias in favor of death, thereby rendering its sentencing recommendation invalid.

IV.

THE PENALTY PHASE JURY INSTRUCTIONS FAILED TO CHANNEL THE JURY'S DISCRETION IN CONSIDERING WHETHER THE CRIME WAS "COLD, CALCULATED AND PREMEDITATED."

The jury instructions given failed to inform the jury of the findings necessary to support the aggravating circumstance of "cold, calculated and premeditated." This aggravating circumstance was the only circumstance utilized by the trial court to impose **a** sentence of death. The failure to sufficiently apprise the jury of the meaning of "cold, calculated and

-13-

premediated" left the jury with unchanneled discretion in reaching its recommendation and tainted the entire sentencing procedure. For this reason, appellant's sentence must be reversed.

v.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT EXCLUDED EXCULPATORY POLYGRAPH RESULTS FROM CONSIDERATION DURING THE SENTENCING PHASE OF THIS CASE.

During the sentencing proceedings, appellant sought to admit into evidence the results of a polygraph examination which indicated appellant had been truthful when he stated he did not kill the victim. The trial court refused to admit such evidence. Although the results of a polygraph examination are not generally admissible in Florida courts, this general rule should not be applicable in this capital case because such results: 1) tended to establish the mitigating factor of residual doubt and 2) rebutted the State's argument that the murder was cold, calculated and premeditated. The failure to admit such evidence violated the Eighth Amendment and the dictates of <u>Lockett v.</u> Ohio, 438 U.S. 586 (1978).

VI.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR MISTRIAL AFTER THE VICTIM'S FATHER IDENTIFIED THE VICTIM AS HIS DAUGHTER TO THE JURY. At trial the State was permitted, over objection, to call as its first witness the victim's father for the sole purpose of identifying the victim. Prior to his taking the stand, the father was instructed not to reveal his relationship with the victim. Nonetheless, upon taking the stand, he immediately identified the deceased as his daughter. A motion for mistrial based on this testimony was denied, the trial court concluding that although error had occurred, it was harmless. Introduction of this evidence was clear error and a mistrial should have been declared. The trial court's refusal to do so constituted reversible error.

VII,

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN PERMITTING JANICE THOMPSON TO TESTIFY AT TRIAL AFTER SHE HAD DELIBERATELY CONCEALED HERSELF FROM DEFENSE COUNSEL PRIOR TO TRIAL BY THE STATE'S ACQUIESCENCE.

The State withheld the location of a crucial State witness, Mrs. Joey Thompson, so that she could not be interviewed or deposed until after appellant had given his direct testimony at trial. This willful, substantial, and prejudicial violation of the <u>Richardson</u> should have resulted in the exclusion of her testimony at trial. Failure to exclude this testimony was reversible error.

-15-

VIII.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING THE STATE TO INTRODUCE HIGHLY PREJUDICIAL PHOTOGRAPHS OF THE DECEASED VICTIM WHICH INFLAMED THE JURY AND PREVENTED FAIR AND UNIMPASSIONED CONSIDERATION OF THE EVIDENCE.

At trial photographs depicting the deceased were admitted over objection, despite an offer from defense counsel to stipulate to the cause of death. These pictures were unduly gruesome and gory. The State's purpose in introducing these photographs was to inflame and incite the emotions of the jury. Therefore, their admission into evidence was reversible error.

IX.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT DENIED APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR DISCOVERY OF PROSECUTORIAL INVESTIGATIONS OF PROSPECTIVE JURORS OR FUNDS то CONDUCT SIMILAR INVESTIGATION.

The trial court committed reversible error when it denied appellant's motion to require the State to furnish information it its possession with respect to prospective jurors. As the result of this denial, appellant was placed at an unfair advantage during the jury selection process. The production of such information should be required in capital cases, such as this one. Appellant's case should be remanded for a new trial with instructions that the information sought be provided to appellant's counsel prior to the jury selection process. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT REMOVED A QUALIFIED JUROR FOR CAUSE IN VIOLATION OF THE APPELLANT'S SIXTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT RIGHTS TO AN IMPARTIAL JURY.

During the voir dire process, one of the prospective jurors stated she was opposed to the death penalty and could not vote to impose it. Nonetheless, she stated that she could serve during the guilt phase of trial. Removal of this juror for cause at the request of the State was erroneous.

XI.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT DENIED APPELLANT'S REQUEST TO RECORD THE PROCEEDINGS OF THE GRAND JURY.

In the present case, a Motion to Record Grand Jury Proceedings was filed by appellant's counsel and was denied by the trial court. Denial of this motion was error since appellant established a viable need for this information.

XII.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT DENIED APPELLANT'S MOTION TO PRECLUDE STATE ATTORNEY VOIR DIRE EXAMINATION OF PROSPECTIVE GRAND JURORS.

The selection of grand juries is governed by Chapters 40 and 905, Florida Statutes, (1987). Neither chapter authorize voir dire examination of prospective grand jurors. In addition to an absence of statutory authority permitting the practice of a voir dire of prospective grand jurors, no common law authority

-17-

x.

supports the practice. The trial court erred in permitting the State to conduct a voir dire examination of prospective grand jurors.

XIII.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION TO ENJOIN GRAND JURY DELIBERATIONS ON THE GROUND THAT THE GRAND JURY WAS IMPROPERLY CONSTITUTED.

Appellant was indicted by an impermissibly constituted grand jury. By statute, a grand jury can consist of not fewer than 15, nor more than 18 persons. In the present case, the grand jury that indicted appellant consisted of 23 members. This excessive number of grand jurors resulted in a greater likelihood that a true bill would be returned against appellant and thus violated appellant's constitutional rights.

-18-

ARGUMENT

I.

THE FACTS OF THIS CASE DO NOT WARRANT IMPOSITION OF THE DEATH PENALTY.

Assuming the facts alleged by the State, and relied upon by the judge at sentencing, the sentence of death by electrocution imposed upon Mr. Thompson is profoundly disproportionate to the crime. The death penalty should be reserved for only the most aggravated and unmitigated crimes. <u>State v. Dixon</u>, 283 So.2d 1, 7 (Fla. 1973). As compared with other capital cases in which the death penalty was imposed, the extreme penalty of death is not warranted on the instant facts. Therefore, appellant's sentence should be reduced to life imprisonment.

In <u>State v. Blair</u>, 406 So.2d 1103 (Fla. 1981), this Court "compar[ed] th[e] case with others" before remanding it with directions to the trial court to impose a life sentence. Id. at 1109. This Court thus concluded that the imposition of a death sentence includes comparison with other first degree murder case facts to determine the applicability of death. Such comparison in the instant case yields the conclusion that death is inappropriate.

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