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

ISSUE 111: Neither the trial court nor the prosecution made statements diminishing the jury's sense of responsibility in its sentencing recommendation where informing the jury that its sentencing role was advisory is merely an accurate statement of law.

ISSUE IV: The penalty phase instructions properly channeled the jury's discretion in determining that the murder was "cold, calculated, and premeditated'' where the instruction given was that which Appellant himself requested and the instruction was that approved by this Court in the Standard Jury Instructions and in Preston v. State.

ISSUE V: The trial court properly excluded polygraph results from consideration during the sentencing phase where such results are not admissible evidence. Irrelevant evidence need not be considered at the penalty phase.

ISSUE VI: The trial court properly denied Appellant's motion for a mistrial after the victim's father identified the victim as his daughter where 1) no other identity witness was available, and 2) the trial court found that the error was harmless where the witness displayed no emotion.

ISSUE VII: The trial court properly allowed the Appellant's estranged wife to testify at trial where she was listed as a witness six months before trial and through no fault of the State could not be located until the trial had commenced. As she was deposed by defense counsel before testifying there was no surprise and no error.

ISSUE VIII: The trial court properly admitted photographs of the deceased victim where the photographs were relevant to issues required to be proven in the case and their probative value outweighed any prejudicial effect.

ISSUE IX: The trial court properly denied Appellant's motion for discovery of prosecutorial investigations of prospective jurors where the controlling caselaw states that a defendant has absolutely no right to such material.

ISSUE X: The trial court properly removed a prospective juror for cause where the juror stated that she

could never vote to impose the death penalty, showing that her bias would prevent or substantially impair the performance of her duties as a juror.

ISSUE XI: The trial court properly denied Appellant's request to record the proceedings of the grand jury where there is no constitutional or statutory requirement that grand jury proceedings be recorded.

ISSUE XII: The trial court properly denied Appellant's motion to preclude voir dire examination of prospective grand jurors where a party has no vested right to any particular method of selecting a grand jury.

ISSUE XIII: The trial court properly denied Appellant's motion to enjoin grand jury deliberations where this Court has already declared that the denial in this case was proper.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

THE FACTS OF THE CASE WARRANT IMPOSITION OF THE DEATH PENALTY.

Appellant herein was convicted of the cold-blooded murder of his girlfriend. In noting his agreement with the jury's recommendation of death, the trial judge stated:

Mr. Thompson was convicted by a jury on October the 6th of this year of murder in the first degree of Annette Louise Place. On October 6th of this year the same jury in the penalty proceeding advised and recommended by a vote of eight to four that this Court impose the sentence of death for the murder of Annette Louise Place.

The case has been passed until today for the imposition of the court's sentence. The facts that surround the murder of Annette Louise Place are as The defendant and his wife follows: were separated at the time of The defendant's wife and two murder. children had moved out of the marital home and the defendant and the victim, Miss Place were alone in the defendant's residence. The defendant confessed that he and the victim had argued on the night of February the 9th. The victim wanted to move in with the defendant. defendant wanted to get together with his wife. The victim threatened to have the defendant killed or blown up if he stopped seeing her.

The defendant intended to kill the victim and himself and on February 10, 1988 the defendant shot the victim in the back of her head approximately one foot away as she slept. Because she continued to wiggle, and because the defendant did not want her to feel any pain he stabbed her once in the back. The defendant then, according to his statement put the knife in the garbage and it is was taken away that morning. The defendant then decided he could not

kill himself and he cut his wrists around 7:00 p.m. on the night of February 10 and he wrote a suicide note to his wife on approximately February the 10th, 1988.

At the trial approximately eight months later after the arrest the defendant testified that it was his wife who had murdered Annette Louise Place, and the defendant testified that he was awakened by a noise; that his wife had shot the victim and was standing over Miss Place, the victim, after having stabbed her. The defendant told his wife to leave and he took the weapons.

The jury obviously did not believe Mr. Thompson's version of those facts and found that Joey Burton Thompson killed Annette Louise Place.

The Court finds that this was done in an execution style as Miss Place slept. When she didn't die this defendant then stabbed her, thrusting a knife six and a half inches into her back.

Mr. Thompson remained in his home with the body of Miss Place for over eighteen hours before this crime was discovered. Some eight months after confessing to this brutal murder Joey Burton Thompson blamed his wife for this crime. These acts of the defendant went accordingly: The defendant's victim was defenseless against the defendant. victim . slept (she) was The defendant could not murdered. follow through with his own suicide, and thinking that his wife who was in hiding who could not be located, the defendant intended to blame her, the mother of his children for this murder. Joey Burton Thompson then believed in the death penalty and he believes that if you commit this type of act you deserve the death penalty.

(T1185-1188).

The State submits that under the facts of this case, not the least being the execution-style murder itself, that the death penalty is here warranted.

In <u>Way v. State</u>, 496 So.2d 126 (Fla. 1986), this Court upheld a sentence of death where the defendant struck his daughter on the head with a blunt instrument and set her on fire. In <u>Middleton v. State</u>, <u>infra</u>, this Court upheld a sentence of death where the defendant shot the woman he lived with as she awoke. In <u>Spinkellink v. State</u>, 313 So.2d 666 (Fla. 1975), <u>cert. denied</u>, 428 U.S. 911, 49 L.Ed.2d 1221, 96 S.Ct. 3227 (1976), a sentence of death was upheld where the defendant shot his travelling companion.

Appellant contends that since this Court did not uphold the death sentence in State v. Blair, 406 So.2d 1103 (Fla. 1981), or in Halliwell v. State, 323 So.2d 557 (Fla. 1975), that it should not do so here. The State submits that since death was upheld in Way, Middleton, and Spinkellink, supra, that the brutal murder of Appellant's unsuspecting girlfriend in the instant case likewise merits the death penalty, as the judge and jury below properly determined.

ISSUE II

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DETERMINED THAT THE ONE STATUTORY AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCE OUTWEIGHED THE ONE STATUTORY MITIGATING CIRCUMSTANCE AND THE NON-STATUTORY MITIGATING CIRCUMSTANCES IN THIS CASE.

In sentencing Appellant, the trial court found the following:

The summarization of the statutory: Before imposing this sentence this Court has carefully studied and considered all of the evidence and the testimony at trial and in an advisory sentencing proceeding, the applicable Florida Statutes, the case law and all other factors touching upon this case. statutory aggravating circumstances that the court found was the one aggravating factor that the capital felony was a homicide and was committed in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification.

Based upon the facts that were submitted the statutory mitigating circumstance that the court found only one, that being that the defendant has no significant history of prior criminal activity and it was shown to the court that the defendant had no criminal prior record.

The court then considered the nonstatutory mitigating circumstances and found A, there was testimony that the defendant was separated from his wife and, C, suicide after murder. testimony showed that the defendant may have been suffering from emotional stress. B, the testimony showed that the defendant had maintained employment during his marriage to his wife. C, the testimony showed that the defendant although had lost touch with his family but that as a teenager living and going to school was a considerate son. testimony then, D, shows that defendant while he has been in custody that he has been a good inmate.

The court having considered both the statutory and the non-statutory mitigating and aggravating circumstances finds that the mitigating circumstances in this case although greater in number than the aggravating factors found in this case do not outweigh the cold, calculated, and premeditated manner in which you, Mr. Thompson, this crime that you committed, Mr. Thompson's complete defense blamed his wife, the mother of two young children coupled with the execution style killing of Miss Place, the defenseless victim.

(T1188-1190).

Appellant first contends that the trial court improperly found that the instant murder was committed in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification, as set forth in §921.141(5)(i), Florida Statutes.

The State submits that the cold-blooded execution style murder of Appellant's girlfriend clearly merited the application of the "cold, calculated and premeditated" statutory aggravating factor in this case. The record on appeal demonstrates that Appellant argued with his girlfriend on the night of February 9th. She threatened to have him killed and/or blow up his house if he stopped seeing her. They went to sleep together that night. On the morning of February 10th, Appellant awoke at 8:00 a.m., having decided to kill his girlfriend. At 8:30 a.m. he shot her in the back of the head as she slept. The gun was one foot away from her head when fired. After the shot, she was still wiggling so Appellant took a hunting knife and thrust

it 6-1/2 inches into her back, killing her (T 638-639, 1185-1187). Appellant kept a number of guns around the house but chose to use a handgun his grandfather gave him (T 842).

This Court has held that the "cold, calculated, and premeditated" aggravating circumstance is properly applied in those murders which are characterized as executions or contract murders, although that description is not intended to be all-inclusive." McCray v. State, 416 So.2d 804 (Fla. 1982). Where a murder can properly be characterized as an execution, imposition of the death penalty on the basis of the "cold, calculated, and premeditated" aggravating circumstance is not improper. Routly v. State, 440 So.2d 1257 (Fla. 1983, cert. denied, 82 L.Ed.2d 888. See also Kokal v. State, 492 So.2d 1317 (Fla. 1986). The trial court in the instant case accurately characterized the murder of Annette Place as an "execution style killing" (R 1189). See also Herring v. State, 446 So.2d 1049 (Fla. 1984) (two shots evince heightened premeditation); Eutzy v. State, 458 So.2d 755 (Fla. 1984).

The record in this case shows that Appellant contemplated murdering Miss Place for at least 1/2 hour on the morning of the killing, and possibly during the preceding night as well. Appellant had various guns to choose from (T 842). There is no evidence of a suicide pact. His conduct in executing the victim by a shot to the

head followed by stabbing her once in the back with a knife establishes the heightened premeditation required for finding the "cold, calculated, and premeditated" aggravating circumstance. See Lennings v. State, 453 So.2d 1109 (Fla. 1984); Herring v. State, supra. Premeditation may be established by circumstantial evidence. Heiney v. State, 447 So.2d 210 (Fla. 1984).

This was clearly not a morally justifiable self defense killing. Although the victim may have threatened Appellant the night before, she was asleep and presented no danger when he killed her. After their argument, they made love. The next morning he shot her.

Regarding Appellant's attempts to avoid the consequences of his actions, the record demonstrates that Appellant disposed of the knife in the garbage outside the house, knowing it would be picked up that morning (T 841). Further, the trial court found that Appellant attempted to avoid the consequences of the murder by trying to kill himself. He did not try hard enough. Later, he attempted to blame his wife for the murder.

The case of <u>Middleton v. State</u>, **426** So.2d **548** (Fla. **1982**), is particularly instructive. Middleton received the death penalty for the shooting death of the woman with whom he resided. Middleton had contemplated murdering his sleeping victim for about an hour before he finally killed her with one shot to the back of the head as she awoke. In

affirming the application of the "cold, calculated, and premeditated" aggravating factor, this Court held that "(P)roof of the element of premeditation does not require that thought or reflection of any specific minimum duration shown". Middleton, supra at 550. be Surely, the approximately half an hour that this Appellant contemplated Miss Place's murder in this case demonstrated no less premeditation than the "about an hour" in the Middleton case, supra. Waking up in an angry mood is no basis for assuming a crime of passion herein. The record clearly demonstrates that the argument between Appellant and Miss Place which precipitated the murder took place the evening before, thereby dissolving any fear, passion or the like the Appellant might have had. He had the whole night to premeditate the murder of his sleeping victim.

Appellant cites the case of Rogers v. State, 511 So.2d 526 (1987) as a typical example of the type of case in which this Court specifically rejected the application of "cold, calculated. and premeditated" as an aggravating circumstance. As in most of the cases cited by Appellant, Rogers concerns a murder committed during a robbery. Rogers, supra, this Court found where the victim was shot as the defendant was fleeing an aborted robbery attempt, that "cold, calculated, and premeditated" did not apply as there was no plan to shoot anyone before the attempted robbery took place. In the instant case, however, the Appellant had a predetermined motive to kill his girlfriend and ample time

in which to contemplate doing so. In Rogers this Court concluded that "calculation" consists of a careful plan or prearranged design. The evidence in this case shows that Appellant had a prearranged design. See also Banda v. State, ____ So.2d ____, 13 F.L.W. 451 (Fla. July 14, 1988).

Appellant maintains that since there was not a "lengthy series of atrocious events" in this case that "cold, calculated, and premeditated" is not applicable (Appellant's Brief, p. 33). The State has demonstrated herein that there is sufficient evidence of a "cold, calculated, and premeditated'' design to kill. If in addition there had been a "lengthy series of atrocious events" in this case that would <u>also</u> support the application of the "heinous, atrocious, and cruel" aggravating factor.

Consequently, it is evident that the trial court properly applied the "cold, calculated, and premeditated" aggravating circumstance in Appellant's case, as there was an "execution-style" killing accompanied by a "heightened premeditation". See also Henderson v. State, 463 So.2d 196 (Fla. 1985), cert. denied, 473 U.S. 665 (1985).

Next, Appellant contends that the "nonstatutory aggravating circumstances" cited by the trial court were not "related to the capital felony itself, Trawick v. 2505, 473 So.2d 1235 (Fla. 1985), however, Appellant has failed to demonstrate that the circumstances alluded to were considered in support of the imposition of the "cold,"

calculated, and premeditated statutory circumstance, and were therefore improperly considered. In Barclay v. Florida, 463 U.S. 939, 77 L.Ed.2d 1134, 103 S.Ct. 3418 (1983), the United States Supreme Court found that there is no constitutional defect in a sentence based on both statutory and nonstatutory aggravating circumstances. See also California v. Ramos, 463 U.S. 992, 77 L.Ed.2d 1171, 103 S.Ct. 3446 (1983).

In affirming this Court's finding that the use of nonstatutory aggravating circumstances was harmless, the United States Supreme Court stated:

There is no reason why the Florida Supreme Court cannot examine the balance struck by the trial judge and decide that the elimination of improperly considered aggravating circumstances could not possibly affect the balance. "What is important is an individualized determination on the basis of the character of the individual and the circumstances of the crime." Barclay, supra at 1149.

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